
Case 3:14-cv-00786-MMH-PDB Document 4 Filed 07/08/14 Page 1 of 20 PageiD 9 

U~" 

'1 ,' I 1. r I f 1-... .- , , . 
0 

., 

{.~ !·, ~· ' · .. -c. i"';'i ~: :· ., L" u· · :. •: ll - 7 rr·.,· .• ; I: 35 
• • ,J --~ 

. ' I 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICTOF FLORIDA 

JACKSONVILLE DIVISION 

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

LANIER LAW, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability 
company, also doing 
business as REDSTONE 

* 
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LAW GROUP and as THE LAW 
OFFICES ofMICHAEL W. 
LANIER; : Civil case No.Q'· \l\- ~'{-rJ&D-0-&\t ~~ 

FORTRESS LAW GROUP, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability 
company; 

SURETY LAW GROUP, LLP, a 
District of Columbia 
limited liability partnership; 

LIBERTY & TRUST LAW GROUP OF 
FLORIDA, LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company; 

and 

MICHAEL W. LANIER, individually 
and as an owner, officer, 
manager, and/or 
representative of the 
above-mentioned entities; 

Defendants. 
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Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), for its Complaint alleges: 

1. The FTC brings this action under Sections 13(b) and 19 of the Federal Trade 

Commission Act ("FTC Act"), 15 U .S.C. §§ 53(b) and 57b; Telemarketing and Consumer 

Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act ("Telemarketing Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.; and the 

2009 Omnibus Appropriations Act, Public Law 111-8, Section 626, 123 Stat. 524, 678 (Mar. 

11, 2009) ("Omnibus Act"), as clarified by the Credit Card Accountability Responsibility and 

Disclosure Act of 2009, Public Law 111-24, Section 511, 123 Stat. 1734, 1763-64 (May 22, 

2009) ("Credit Card Act"), and amended by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 

Consumer Protection Act, Public Law 111-203, Section 1097, 124 Stat. 1376,2102-03 (July 

21, 2010) ("Dodd-Frank Act"), 12 U.S.C. § 5538, to obtain temporary, preliminary, and 

permanent injunctive relief, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of 

monies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, and other equitable relief for Defendants' 

acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) ofthe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a); the FTC's 

Telemarketing Sales Rule ("TSR"), 16 C.F .R. Part 31 0; and the Mortgage Assistance Relief 

Services Rule ("MARS Rule"), 16 C.F .R. Part 322, recodified as Mortgage Assistance Relief 

Services ("Regulation 0"), 12 C.F.R. Part 1015, in connection with the marketing and sale of 

mortgage assistance relief services. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 

1337(a), and 1345; 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 53(b), 57b, 6102(c), and 6105(b), and Section 626 of 

the Omnibus Act, as clarified by Section 511 of the Credit Card Act, and amended by Section 

1097 of the Dodd-Frank Act, 12 U.S.C. § 5538. 
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3. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(l), (b)(2), (c)(1), 

(c)(2), and (d), and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. Plaintiff FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government 

created by statute. 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58. The FTC enforces Section 5(a) ofthe FTC Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting 

commerce. The FTC enforces the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq. Pursuant to 

the Telemarketing Act, the FTC promulgated and enforces the TSR, 16 C.F.R. Part 310, 

which prohibits deceptive and abusive telemarketing acts or practices. In addition, pursuant 

to 12 U.S.C. § 5538, the FTC also enforces the MARS Rule, which requires mortgage 

assistance relief services ("MARS") providers to make certain disclosures, prohibits certain 

representations, and generally prohibits the collection of an advance fee. 

5. The FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its own 

attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act, the TSR, the MARS Rule, and Regulation 0; 

and to secure such equitable relief as may be appropriate in each case, including rescission or 

reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill

gotten monies. 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b), 56(a)(2)(A)-(B), 57b, 6102(c), and 6105(b); § 626, 123 

Stat. at 678, as clarified by§ 511, 123 Stat. at 1763-64, and amended by§ 1097, 124 Stat. at 

2102-03, 12 U.S.C. § 5538. 

DEFENDANTS 

6. Defendant Lanier Law, LLC ("Lanier Law"), also doing business as 

Redstone Law Group ("Redstone") and as The Law Offices of Michael W. Lanier, is a 

3 



Case 3:14-cv-00786-MMH-PDB   Document 4   Filed 07/08/14   Page 4 of 20 PageID 12

limited liability company with its principal place of business at 2711 Dean Road, 

Jacksonville, Florida. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or as part of the 

common enterprise described in Paragraph 1 1, Lanier Law advertises, markets, provides, 

offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide MARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. § 322.2, 

recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. Lanier Law transacts or has transacted business in this 

District and throughout the United States. 

7. Defendant Fortress Law Group, LLC ("Fortress") is a limited liability 

company with its principal place of business at 2711 Dean Road, Jacksonville, Florida. At 

all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or as part of the common enterprise 

described in Paragraph 11, Fortress advertises, markets, provides, offers to provide, or 

arranges for others to provide MARS, as defined in 16 C.F.R. § 322.2, recodified as 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.2. Fortress Law Group transacts or has transacted business in this District and 

throughout the United States. 

8. Defendant Surety Law Group, LLP ("Surety") is a District of Columbia 

limited liability partnership with its principal place of business at 1629 K Street, Suite 300, 

Washington, D.C. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or as part of the 

common enterprise described in Paragraph 11, Surety advertises, markets, provides, offers to 

provide, or arranges for others to provide MARS, as defined in 16 C.F .R. § 322.2, recodified 

as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. Surety Law Group transacts or has transacted business in this District 

and throughout the United States. 

9. Defendant Liberty & Trust Law Group of Florida, LLC ("Liberty") is a 

Florida limited liability company with its principal place of business at 411 0 Southpoint 
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Blvd., Suite 500, Jacksonville, Florida 32216. At all times material to this Complaint, acting 

alone or as part of the common enterprise described in Paragraph 11, Liberty advertises, 

markets, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide MARS, as defined in 

16 C.F .R. § 322.2, recodified as 12 C.F .R. § l 015 .2. Liberty transacts or has transacted 

business in this District and throughout the United States. 

10. Defendant Michael W. Lanier ("Lanier") is or was an owner, officer, 

manager, and/or representative of Lanier Law, Fortress, Surety, and Liberty. At all times 

material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, and through interrelated 

entities described in Paragraphs 6-9, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the 

authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices of Lanier Law, Fortress, 

Surety, and Liberty, including the acts and practices set forth in this Complaint. Michael W. 

Lanier resides in this district and, in connection with the matters alleged herein, transacts or 

has transacted business in this District and throughout the United States. 

COMMON ENTERPRISE 

11. Lanier Law, Fortress, Surety, and Liberty (collectively, "Corporate 

Defendants") have operated as a common enterprise while engaging in the deceptive acts 

and practices alleged below. The Corporate Defendants have conducted the business 

practices described below through interrelated companies that have common ownership, 

officers, managers, business functions, employees, and/or office locations; that have 

commingled funds; and/or that have shared one another's marketing materials. Because 

these Corporate Defendants have operated as a common enterprise, each of them is jointly 

and severally liable for the acts or practices alleged below. Defendant Michael W. Lanier 

5 



Case 3:14-cv-00786-MMH-PDB   Document 4   Filed 07/08/14   Page 6 of 20 PageID 14

I 

has formulated, directfd, controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts 
I 

and practices of the Cbrporate Defendants that constitute the common enterprise. 

I 

I 

I 

I 

COMMERCE 

12. At all titnes material to this complaint, Defendants have maintained a 

substantial course of Jade in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is defined in Section 4 

I 

of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44. 
I 

I DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS PRACTICES 
li 

Overview 

13. From at least January 2011 to the present, Defendants, through the operation 
I 

I 

of the common enterptise, have engaged in a course of conduct to advertise, market, sell, 
I 

I 

provide, offer to provide, or arrange for others to provide MARS, including loan document 
I 

1, 

and transaction revieWs. mortgage loan modification services, and foreclosure defense 
I-
I 

servtces. 

14. Defendtts have marketed their services in a variety of ways, including by 

telephone, through theiU.S. Mail, and on their websites. 

15. Defendahts have preyed on financially distressed homeowners by luring them 
I 

into paying upfront feJs and other fees with promises that they will receive legal 
I, 

representation from foteclosure defense attorneys who will fight their lenders to save their 
I 

homes from foreclosure or make their mortgage payments substantially more affordable. In 
I 

addition to legal representation, Defendants have purported to provide consumers with 
i 

forensic loan audits and other reports that will identify errors in their mortgage loan 
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documents, ferret out predatory lending practices, and gather other information that 

Defendants will use to defend against foreclosure and to win concessions from lenders. 
I 

I 

16. Defendants have charged an upfront fee ranging from $1000 to $4000 or, in 
I 
I 

some instances, charged monthly fees. In numerous instances, Defendants have failed to 
I 

I 

obtain any relief for their customers. 
I 

I 

\ The Sales Pitch 

Defend~ts have initiated contact with consumers in many ways, including 
I 

17. 

I 

but not limited to unsolicited outbound telemarketing calls and letters mailed to consumers. 
I 

I 

Defendants' letters as Well as their websites have contained telephone numbers that 
I 

I 

consumers are encouraged to call. Consumers have called the telephone numbers and 
I 

I 

reached representative~ of the Defendants. These representatives have then given 
I 

Defendants' sales pitcij to the consumers. 

18. 

I 

I 

I 

I 

In numerous instances. Defendants have told consumers that Defendants will 
I • 

I 

get the consumer's ho~e loan mortgage modified by reducing the interest rate, by making 

the monthly payments lower, and/or by reducing the principal balance of their mortgages, or 

that there is a high pro\?ability they will do so. 

19. In numerbus instances, Defendants have told consumers that, if the consumers 
! 
I, 

I 

hired Defendants, Defendants would likely obtain loan modifications or other concessions 
I 

from lenders. 

20. In numerous instances, Defendants have told consumers that attorneys 

working with Defendants will be able to prevent foreclosure or, at a minimum, delay it. 
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21. In numerous instances, Defendants have told consumers that they will conduct 
I 
I 

various audits or revie
1

ws of the consumers' loan documents and transactions and that many 

audits or reviews revehl fraud, errors, or predatory acts committed by the lender. 
I 

22. In nume~ous instances, Defendants have claimed that they will use the 
I 

findings from the audits and reviews to defend consumers against foreclosure and extract 

concessions from lendbrs that will lower consumers' monthly mortgage payments through 
I 

I 

reductions in loan prinbipal and/or interest rates. 
I 

23. In numetous instances, Defendants have told consumers that by signing up 

with Defendants they will obtain legal representation to fight their lenders and will be 
I 

represented by an attorpey in their state. 
I 

24. In nume,ous instances, Defendants have requested or received payment of a 

fee from a consumer before the consumer has executed a written agreement between the 
I 

consumer and the consumer's dwelling loan holder or servicer that incorporates the offer of 
I. 

i 

mortgage assistance relief the Defendants obtained from the consumer's dwelling loan 

I 
holder or servicer. 1 

Post-Purchase 

25. In numerbus instances, consumers who sign up have not received legal 
! 

representation. Althou$h they may have been assigned an attorney in a nominal sense, 

many consumers have l}ever met or spoken to an attorney licensed in the state where they 

I 

reside or where the property at issue is located, or have had only introductory conversations. 
I 

26. In numer<;ms instances, consumers who have signed up with Defendants have 

been left to negotiate ori their own with lenders. 
I 

8 
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27. In numerous instances, consumers who signed up with Defendants have 
i 

suffered significant ecpnomic injury, including: paying hundreds or thousands of dollars to 
I 

Defendants and receiving little or no service in return; going into foreclosure; and even 
I 

losing their homes. 1 

28. In numerous instances, after consumers have signed up with Defendants and 
I 

I 

paid the requested advance fees, Defendants have failed to obtain a loan modification, 
I 
I 

principal reduction, orfother relief to stop foreclosure or make consumers' mortgage 

payments affordable. 

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT 

29. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits "unfair or deceptive 
r 

acts or practices in or ~ffecting commerce." 
! 

MisreprJsentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute 
I 

30. 

I 

deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Section S(a) of the FTC Act. 
I 
I 

! 

I 

I 

I 

COUNT I 

(Deceptive Representations Regarding Loan Modifications) 
I 

31. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 
I 

promotion, offering for sale, sale, or performance of mortgage assistance relief services, 
I 

I 

Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that they 

typically will obtain mprtgage loan modifications for consumers that will make their 
I 

payments substantiall~ more affordable, or will help them avoid foreclosure. 

9 
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32. In truth fiDd in fact, Defendants typically do not obtain mortgage loan 

modifications for cons~mers that will make their payments substantially more affordable, or 

help them avoid foreclosure. 

33. Therefo~e, Defendants' representations as set forth in Paragraph 31 are false 

and misleading and corstitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the 

I 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § ~5(a). 

COUNT II 

(De~eptive Representations Regarding Loan Audits) 

34. In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing, 

promotion, offering fo~ sale, sale, or performance of mortgage assistance relief services, 

Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that, as a 
I 

result of various loan audits, research, and reviews provided by Defendants, including a 
I 

forensic loan audit, they typically will obtain mortgage loan modifications for consumers 

that will make their paxments substantially more affordable, or will help them avoid 

foreclosure. 

35. In truth and in fact, Defendants typically do not obtain mortgage loan 

modifications for cons~mers that will make their mortgage payments substantially more 

I 

affordable, or help them avoid foreclosure as a result of the various loan audits, research, 

and reviews provided by Defendants, if at all provided. 
I 

36. Therefore, Defendants' representations as set forth in Paragraph 34 are false 
I 

and misleading and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 4?(a). 

10 
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VIOLATIONS OF THE MARS RULE 

37. In 2009, Congress directed the FTC to prescribe rules prohibiting unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices with respect to mortgage loans. Omnibus Act, § 626, 123 Stat. at 

678, as clarified by Credit Card Act, § 511, 123 Stat. at 1763-64. Pursuant to that direction, 

the FTC promulgated the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 322, all but one of the provisions of 

which became effective on December 29, 2010. The remaining provision, Section 322.5, 

became effective on January 31, 2011. 

38. The MARS Rule and Regulation 0 define "mortgage assistance relief service 

provider~' as "any person that provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide, 

any mortgage assistance relief service" other than the dwelling loan holder, the servicer of a 

dwelling loan, or any agent or contractor of such individual or entity. 16 C.F.R. § 322.2, 

recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.2. 

39. The MARS Rule and Regulation 0 prohibit any mortgage assistance relief 

service provider from requesting or receiving payment of any fee or other consideration 

until the consumer has executed a written agreement between the consumer and the 

consumer's loan holder or servicer that incorporates the offer that the provider obtained 

from the loan holder or servicer. 16 C.F.R. § 322.5(a), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.5(a). 

40. The MARS Rule and Regulation 0 prohibit any mortgage assistance relief 

service provider from misrepresenting, expressly or by implication, any material aspect of 

any mortgage assistance relief service, including but not limited to the likelihood of 

negotiating, obtaining, or arranging any represented service or result. 16 C.F.R. 

§ 322.3(b)(l), recodified as 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(l). 

ll 
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41. The MARS Rule and Regulation 0 prohibit any mortgage assistance relief 

service provider from failing to place a statement in every general commercial 

communication disclosing that (i) the provider is not associated with the government and its 

service is not approved by the government or any lender, and (ii) in certain cases, a 

statement disclosing that the lender may not agree to modify a loan, even if the consumer 

uses the provider's service. 16 C.P.R. §§ 322.4(a)(l)-(2), recodified as 12 C.F.R. 

§§ 10 15.4(a)(1 )-(2). 

42. The MARS Rule and Regulation 0 prohibit any mortgage assistance relief 

service provider from failing to place a statement in every consumer-specific commercial 

communication (i) confirming that the consumer may stop doing business with the provider 

or reject an offer of mortgage assistance without having to pay for the services, (ii) 

disclosing that the provider is not associated with the government and its service is not 

approved by the government or any lender, and (iii) in certain cases, a statement disclosing 

that the lender may not agree to modify a loan, even if the consumer uses the provider's 

service, and (iv) in certain cases, a statement disclosing that if they stop paying their 

mortgage, consumers may lose their home or damage their credit. 16 C.P.R.§§ 322.4(b)(l)

(3) and (c), recodified as 12 C.P.R.§§ 1015.4(b)(l)-(3) and (c). 

43. Pursuant to the Omnibus Act, § 626, 123 Stat. at 678, as clarified by the 

Credit Card Act,§ 511, 123 Stat. at 1763-64 and amended by the Dodd-Frank Act,§ 1097, 

124 Stat. at 2102-03, 12 U.S.C. § 5538, and pursuant to Section 18(d)(3) of the FTC Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 57a(d)(3), a violation of the MARS Rule or Regulation 0 constitutes an unfair or 

12 
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deceptive act or practice in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

COUNT III 

(Collection of Advance Payments) 

44. In numerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, or 

arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have asked 

for or have received payment before consumers have executed a written agreement between 

the consumer and the loan holder or servicer that incorporates the offer obtained by 

Defendants, in violation of the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 322.5(a) and Regulation 0, 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.5(a). 

COUNT IV 

(Material Misrepresentations) 

45. In numerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, or 

arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants, in violation 

of the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 322.3(b)(l), and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.3(b)(1), 

have misrepresented, expressly or by implication, material aspects of their services, 

including, but not limited to: 

a. Defendants' likelihood of obtaining mortgage loans modifications for 

consumers that will make their payments substantially more affordable; and 

b. Defendants' likelihood of obtaining mortgage loan modifications for 

consumers that will make their payments substantially more affordable as a 

result of a loan audit provided by Defendants. 

13 
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COUNTV 

(Failure to Disclose) 

46. In numerous instances, in the course of providing, offering to provide, or 

arranging for others to provide mortgage assistance relief services, Defendants have failed to 

make the following disclosures or have failed to make the disclosures in a clear and 

prominent manner: 

(a) in all general commercial communications-

(1) "[Name of Company] is not associated with the government, 

and our service is not approved by the government or your 

lender," in violation of the MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 322.4(a)(l) and (a)(3), and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.4(a)(1) and (a)(3); and 

(2) "Even if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender 

may not agree to change your loan," in violation of the MARS 

Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(a)(2) and (a)(3), and Regulation 0, 12 

C.F.R. § 1015.4(a)(2) and (a)(3); 

(b) in all consumer-specific commercial communications -

( 1) "You may stop doing business with us at any time. You may 

accept or reject the offer of mortgage assistance we obtain from 

your lender [or servicer]. If you reject the offer, you do not 

have to pay us. If you accept the offer, you will have to pay us 

[insert amount or method for calculating the amount] for our 

14 
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services," in violation of the MARS Rule, 16 C.F .R. 

§ 322.4(b)(1) and (b)(4), and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1015.4(b)(1) and (b)(4); 

(2) "[Name of company] is not associated with the government, 

and our service is not approved by the government or your 

lender," in violation ofthe MARS Rule, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 322.4(b)(2) and (b)(4), and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. 

§ 10 15.4(b )(2) and (b)( 4); 

(3) "Even if you accept this offer and use our service, your lender 

may not agree to change your loan," in violation of the MARS 

Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 322.4(b)(3) and (b)(4), and Regulation 0, 12 

C.F.R. § 1 015.4(b)(3) and (b)(4); and 

(4) "If you stop paying your mortgage, you could lose your home 

and damage your credit," in violation of the MARS Rule, 16 

C.F.R. § 322.4(c), and Regulation 0, 12 C.F.R. § 1015.4(c). 

VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE 

4 7. Congress directed the FTC to prescribe rules prohibiting abusive and 

deceptive telemarketing acts or practices pursuant to the TSR in 1995, extensively amended 

it in 2003, and amended certain provisions thereafter. 16 C.F.R. Part 310. 

48. The 2003 amendments to the TSR established a national do-not-call registry 

(the "National Do Not Call Registry"), a list of consumers who do not wish to receive 

certain types of telemarketing calls. Consumers can register their telephone numbers on the 

15 
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National Do Not Call Registry without charge either through a toll-free telephone call or 

over the Internet at donotcall.gov. The National Do Not Call Registry is maintained by the 

FTC. 

49. The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from initiating outbound 

telephone calls to numbers on the National Do Not Call Registry. 16 C.F.R. § 

31 0.4(b )(1 )(iii)(B). 

50. The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from initiating outbound 

telephone calls to any consumer when that consumer previously has stated that he or she 

does not wish to receive an outbound telephone call made by or on behalf of the seller 

whose goods or services are being offered, or made by or on behalf of the charitable 

organization for which a charitable contribution is being solicited. 16 C.F .R. 

§ 31 0.4(b )(I )(iii)( A). 

51. The TSR defines a seller as "any person who, in connection with a 

telemarketing transaction, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide 

goods or services to the customer in exchange for consideration." 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(aa). 

52. The TSR defines a telemarketer as "any person who, in connection with 

telemarketing, initiates or receives telephone calls to or from a customer or donor." 16 

C.F.R. § 310.2(cc). 

53. The TSR defmes an outbound telemarketing call as a "telephone call initiated 

by a telemarketer to induce the purchase of goods or services or to solicit a charitable 

contribution." 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(v). 

16 
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54. The TSR defines telemarketing as "a plan, program, or campaign which is 

conducted to induce the purchase of goods or services or a charitable contribution, by use of 

one or more telephones and which involves more than one interstate telephone call." 16 

C.F.R. § 310.2(dd). 

55. The FTC allows sellers, telemarketers, and other permitted organizations to 

access the National Do Not Call Registry over the Internet at telemarketing.donotcal/.gov, to 

pay the fee(s) if required by the TSR, and to download a list of numbers that are prohibited 

from being called. 

56. The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from calling any telephone 

number within a given area code unless the seller on whose behalf the call is made has paid 

the annual fee for access to the telephone numbers within that area code that are included in 

the National Do Not Call Registry. 16 C.F.R. § 310.8. Consumers who receive 

telemarketing calls to their registered numbers can complain ofNational Do Not Call 

Registry violations the same way they registered, through a toll-free telephone call or over 

the Internet at donotcall.gov, or by otherwise contacting law enforcement authorities. 

57. Pursuant to Section 3(c) of the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c), and 

Section 18(d)(3) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57a(d)(3), a violation of the TSR constitutes 

an unfair or deceptive act or practice in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section S(a) 

of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

58. Defendants are "seller[s]" or "telemarketer[s]" engaged in "telemarketing" as 

those terms are defined in the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(aa), (cc), and (dd). 
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59. Defendants initiate outbound telephone calls to consumers in the United States 

to induce the purchase of Defendants' services. 

60. Defendants have engaged in telemarketing by a plan, program, or campaign 

conducted to induce the purchase of goods or services by use of one or more telephones and 

which involves more than one interstate telephone call. 

COUNT VI 

(Calls in Violation of National Do Not Call Registry) 

61. In connection with telemarketing, Defendants have initiated or have caused 

others to initiate numerous outbound telephone calls to consumers who have registered their 

telephone numbers on the National Do Not Call Registry in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. 

§ 310.4(b)(1)(iii)(B). 

COUNT VII 

(Failure to Pay Required Fee for Access to National Do Not Call Registry) 

62. In connection with telemarketing, Defendants have initiated, or caused others 

to initiate, numerous outbound telephone calls to telephone numbers within a given area 

code when Defendants had not, either directly or through another person, paid the required 

annual fee for access to the telephone numbers within that area code that are included in the 

National Do Not Call Registry, in violation of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.8. 

CONSUMER INJURY 

63. Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a 

result of Defendants' violations of the FTC Act, the MARS Rule and Regulation 0, and the 

TSR. In addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts 
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or practices. Absent injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to 

injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest. 

THIS COURT'S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF 

64. Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to 

grant injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt and redress 

violations of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. The Court, in the exercise of its 

equitable jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or reformation of 

contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, 

to prevent and remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. 

65. Section 19 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57b, and Section 626 ofthe Omnibus 

Act authorize this Court to grant such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to 

consumers resulting from Defendants' violations of the TSR and the MARS Rule, including 

rescission and reformation of contracts and the refund of money. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission, pursuant to Sections 13(b) and 19 of 

the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b) and 57b, Section 6(b) of the TSR, 15 U.S.C. § 6105(b), the 

Omnibus Act, and the Court's own equitable powers, requests that the Court: 

A. Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as may be 

necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the pendency of 

this action, and to preserve the possibility of effective final relief, including 

but not limited to a temporary and preliminary injunction, an order freezing 

assets, immediate access, and appointment of a receiver; 
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B. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act, the 

TSR, and the MARS Rule/Regulation 0 by Defendants; 

C. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers 

resulting from Defendants' violations of the FTC Act, the TSR, and the 

MARS Rule/Regulation 0, including but not limited to, rescission or 

reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the 

disgorgement of ill-gotten monies; and 

D. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and 

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Dated: June 16, 2014 Respectfully submitted, 

JONATHAN E. NUECHTERLEIN 
General Counsel 

HA"R~ Florida Special Bar Number A5500743 

MARCELA MATEO 
Georgia Bar Number 397722 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
225 Peachtree Street, Suite 1500 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303 
404-656-1357 (Kirtz) 
404-656-1361 (Mateo) 
404-656-1379 (fax) 
hkirtz@ftc.gov 
mmateo@ftc.gov 

20 



Case 3:14-cv-00786-MMH-PDB   Document 4-1   Filed 07/08/14   Page 1 of 1 PageID 290 \l_\-{V-1 ))w=J-0-\ ~ 
JS 44 (Rev. 12112) CIVIL COVER SHEET 
The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the if~ formation contained herein .n~ither replace nor supple~ent the fil.ing and service of p~eadings or other papers as required by law, except as 
provided by local rules of court. Th1s form, approved by the Jud1c1al Conference of the Umtcd States m September 1974, IS requued for the use of the Clerk of Court for the 
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INS11WC110NS ON NEXT PAG!:" OF THIS FORAI.) 

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS 

Federal Trade Commission 

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff 
(E){CEPT IN U..''l'. PLAJN11FF CASES) 

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Addres.r, and Telephone Number) 
Harold E. Kirtz and Marcela C. Mateo 
225 Peachtree St, Suite 1500, Atlanta, GA 30303 
( 404 )656-1357 and ( 404 )656-1361 

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION fPiacean"X" inUneBoxOnly; 

DEFENDANTS 
Lanier Law LLC d/b/a Redstone Law Group and Law Offices of 
Michael W. Lanier; Fortress Law Group LLC; Surety Law Group LLP; 
Liberty & Trust Law Group of FL LLC; and Michael W. Lanier. 

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant _,D=u~v,.a,._l _______ _ 
(IN U.S. PLAIN11FFCASESONL'i) 

NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATJ0:-1 CASES, USE TliE LOC ATIOl\ OF 
TI-IE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED. 

Attorneys (If Known) 

Ill. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIESrPiacean "X"inOneBa-cforPiaimi.ff 
(For Diwrsity Cases 011/y) and One Box for Dejendam) 

~ I U.S. Govemment 
Plaintiff 

a 3 Federal Question 
(U.S. Gowrnmellf Not a Party} 

PTF DEF PTF DEF 
Citizen of This State CJ J CJ I Incorporated or Principal Place CJ 4 CJ 4 

I 

I 

r:J 2 U.S. Govemment 
Defendant 

04 Diversitv 
([ndi;ate Citizenship of Parties in Item Ill) 

IV. NATURE OF SUIT(Piacean "X"mOneBa-cOnl>-~ 
\..:U~LIU\\. T '"' iTORTS 

a 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJl!RY 
a 120 Marine a 310 Airplane CJ 365 Personal Injury -
0 130 Miller Act 0 31 5 Airplane Product Product Liability 
a 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability CJ 367 Health Carel 
a 150 Recovery of Overpayment a 320 Assault, Libel & Phannaceutical 

& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 
a 15 I Medicare Act a 330 Federal Employers' Product Liability 
r:J 152 Recovery ofDefaulted Liability Ll 368 Asbestos Personal 

Student Loans r:J 340 Marine Injury Product 
(Excludes Veterans) Ll 345 Marine Product Liability 

0 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY 
ofVeteran's Benefits a 350 Motor Vehicle r:J 370 Other Fmud 

a 160 Stockholders' Suits r:J 355 Motor Vehicle 0 371 Truth in Lending 
a 190 Other Contract Product Liability 0 380 Other Personal 
0 I 95 Contract Product Liability a 360 Other Personal Property Damage 
0 196 Franchise Injury 0 385 Property Damage 

CJ 362 Personal Injury • Product Liability 
Medical Malpractice 

REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS: ~·: PRISONER PETITIONS . 
CJ 210 Land Condemnation (] 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: 
0 220 Foreclosure r:J 441 Voting a 463 Alien Detainee 
CJ 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 0 442 Employment (J 5 10 Motions to Vacate 
a 240 Torts to Land 0 443 Housing/ Sentence 
a 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations (] 530 General 
r:J 290 All Other Real Property 0 445 Amer. w!Disabilities • (] 535 Death Penalty 

Employment Other: 
0 446 Amer. w/Disabilities • (] 540 Mandamus & Other 

Other a 550 Ch·il Rights 
(] 448 Education CJ 555 Prison Condition 

CJ 560 Civil Detainee • 
Conditions of 
Confinement 

V. 0 Rl GIN (Place an "X"' in One Box On/)~ 

of Business In This State 

Citizen of Another State CJ 2 CJ 2 Incorporated and Principal Place 
of Business In Another Stale 

0 5 05 

Citizen or Subject of a 
Forei Countrv 

a 3 a 3 Foreign Nation 

FORFEITURE/PENALTY. •' : BANKRUeT~V · 

a 625 Drug Related Seizure CJ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 
ofProperty 21 USC 881 CJ 423 Withdrawal 

t:l 690 Other 28 usc 157 

PROPERTY RIGHTS 
a 820 Copyrights 
r:J 830 Patent 
r:J 840 Trademark 

'LABOR . snru .~RCURITV .. 
r:J 710 Fair Labor Standards a 861 HIA (1395tl) 

Act a 862 Black Lung (923) 
LJ 720 Labor/Management a 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) 

Relations a 864 SSJD Title XVI 
[j 740 Railway Labor Act CJ 865 RSI (405(g)) 
Ll 751 Family I'IJld Medical 

Leave Act 
LJ 790 Other Labor Litigation 
r:J 79 I Employee Retirement FEDERALTAXSUITS ··, 

Income Security Act 0 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff 
or Defendant) 

CJ 871 IRS-Third Party 
26 usc 7609 

· :IMMIGRATION, 
LJ 462 Naturalization Application 
[j 465 Other Immigration 

Actions 

CJ 6 CJ 6 

OTHER> STATUTES . I 

CJ 375 False Claims Act 
0 400 State Reapportionment 
CJ 410 Antitrust 
CJ 430 Banks 101d Banking 
0 450 Commerce 
a 460 Deportation 
a 470 Racketeer Influenced and 

Corrupt Orb'llllizations 
r:J 480 Consumer Credit 
a 490 Cable/Sat TV 
Ll 850 Securities/Commodities! 

Exchange 
)!I 890 Other Statutory Actions 
a 891 Agricultural Acts 
CJ 893 Environmental Matters 
t:l 895 Freedom oflnfom1ation 

Act 
(J 896 Arbitmtion 
CJ 899 Administrati\'e Procedure 

Act/Re\'iew or Appeal of 
Agency Decision 

a 950 Constitutionality of 
State Statutes 

)I( 1 Original CJ 2 Removed from 
Proceeding State Court 

Ll 3 Remanded from 
Appellate Court 

Ll 4 Reinstated or CJ 5 Transferred from Ll 6 Multidistrict 
Reopened Another District Litigation 

(specify) 

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not citejuriJ·dictio11al stat111es unlesto divosil)~: 
15 U.S.C. Sec. 41 et se . 

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION ~B~r~ie~fd~e;;;.;sc~r~ip~tio;..;;n;..;;o~f~c..;.ause.....;.;;.:..;:;.;;.~--------------------------------
Misrepresentations to consumers and MARS and TSR violations 

VII. REQUESTED IN 
COMPLAINT: 

0 CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND$ 

VIII. RELATED CASE(S) 
IF ANY 

DATE 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

RECEIPT# AMOUNT 

UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. 

(See instructions): 
JUDGE 

SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD 

APPLYING IFP 

CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: 

JURY DEMAND: CJ Yes )UNo 

DOCKET NUMBER 

JUDGE MAG. JUDGE 


